Transfusion Medicine Reviews xxx (xxxx) xxx



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

### **Transfusion Medicine Reviews**



journal homepage: https://www.journals.elsevier.com/transfusion-medicine-

reviews/

### Frozen Platelets–Development and Future Directions

Kathleen Kelly <sup>a,\*</sup>, Jose A. Cancelas <sup>b</sup>, Zbigniew M. Szczepiorkowski <sup>c,e</sup>, Deborah F. Dumont <sup>a</sup>, Neeta Rugg <sup>b</sup>, Larry J. Dumont <sup>a,d,e</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Vitalant Research Institute, Denver, CO, USA

<sup>b</sup> Hoxworth Blood Center, University of Cincinnati College of Medicine, Cincinnati, OH, USA

<sup>c</sup> Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center, One Medical Center Drive, Lebanon, NH, USA

<sup>d</sup> University of Colorado School of Medicine, Aurora, CO, USA

e Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth, Lebanon, NH, USA

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: 24 July 2020 10 September 2020 10 September 2020 Available online xxxx

*Keywords:* Frozen platelets Cryopreserved platelets DMSO platelets

#### Contents

#### ABSTRACT

Storage requirements and outdating of platelets represent a continued challenge for blood banks. These hurdles are confounded for rural area hospitals or in military deployments. Over 60 years of research and development into frozen platelets have generated a stable and reproducible product. Valeri's method to freeze platelets in 6% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) and storage at  $-80^{\circ}$ C allows for long-term storage alleviating burdens placed on blood banks. Clinical studies show that frozen platelet transfusions are safe with no related thrombotic or other serious adverse events. There are ongoing efforts to demonstrate cryopreserved platelet (CPP) superiority in efficacy studies designed in trauma or cardiac surgery patients. Technical advances in CPP manufacturing including closed system manufacturing, applications of pathogen reduction technology and potency standard characterization add to the appeal of CPP as an alternative to traditional liquid-stored platelets. (LP) in settings of supply shortages, mass casualty, active bleeding, rapid provision of HLA-compatible platelets, and remote care. © 2020 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Frozen Platelet History						
Current Key Manufacturing Points						
Characterization, Safety, and Efficacy of CPP.						
Key Developments and Evidence Necessary for Future Success						
Pathogen Reduction						
Closed Manufacturing and Processing Systems						
CPP Potency						
Applications of CPP						
Supply Shortages						
Response to Mass Casualty Events						
Platelet Support in Remote Locations (Rural Civilian, Remote Military)						
Bleeding Patients (Surgical, ED, GI, Other Medical).						
Support for Alloimmunized Patients (HLA Bank/Alloimmunization and Platelet Refractoriness)						
Drug Delivery Using Platelets						
Conclusion						
Declaration of Competing Interest						
Funding						
References						

*Abbreviations:* AIHA, autoimmune hemolytic anemia; APU, apheresis platelet unit; cGMP, current good manufacturing practice; CPP, cryopreserved platelet; DMAC, dimethylacetamide; DMSO, dimethyl sulfoxide; DoD, Department of Defense; FDA, Food and Drug Administration; FFP, fresh-frozen plasma; GPIbα, glycoprotein 1b alpha; HLA, human leukocyte antigen; ITP, idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura; ISBT, International Society for Blood Transfusion; LP, liquid platelet; NBRL, Naval Blood Research Laboratory; PAS, platelets in additive solution; PR, pathogen reduction; ROTEM, rotational thromboelastometry; RT, room temperature; TGA, thrombin generation assay; TEG, thromboelastography; TF, tissue factor; TPH, thrombin peak height; WHO, world health organization.

\* Corresponding author at: Kathleen Kelly, 717 Yosemite Street, Denver, CO 80230, USA. *E-mail address*: KKelly@vitalant.org (K. Kelly).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmrv.2020.09.008 0887-7963/© 2020 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Please cite this article as: K. Kelly, J.A. Cancelas, Z.M. Szczepiorkowski, et al., Frozen Platelets—Development and Future Directions, Transfusion Medicine Reviews, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmrv.2020.09.008

K. Kelly, J.A. Cancelas, Z.M. Szczepiorkowski et al.

#### **Frozen Platelet History**

Platelet storage requirements and outdating are continued challenges for blood banks motivating research into alternative storage methods including lyophilized (freeze-dried) and cryopreserved (frozen) platelet products. The use of frozen platelets in a clinical setting dates to 1956 where platelet concentrates were frozen in plasma and used to treat thrombocytopenic 2 to 15-year-old children. The results were encouraging with transitory hemostasis in 62% of transfusions and no thrombotic or serious adverse events observed [1]. Stefanini and Kistner (1958) [2] also displayed hemostatic effects following transfusion of frozen platelets; however, this study did not find maintenance of circulating platelet concentration. In the 1960s to 70s, clinicians emphasized sustained post-transfusion peripheral blood platelet concentration driven by the prophylactic use of platelets in thrombocytopenic cancer patients. This priority was evidenced following the work of Murphy and Gardner that supported room temperature (RT) storage of platelets versus the standard of care practice of refrigerated storage [3-5].

Among the challenges with freezing cells is mitigating the formation of intracellular ice crystals that severely decrease cell viability postthaw. Cryobiological research identified a variety of additive cocktails to preserve platelet integrity and viability including various sugars, dimethylacetamide (DMAC), dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) and glycerol [6-13]. In animal models, cryoprotected frozen platelets generated circulating post transfusion recoveries at day-1 ranging from 30% to 87% [6-8,12]. Early clinical studies had day 1 recoveries around 30% [9,10]. Still prominent in these reports is the emphasis on maintaining platelet circulation as an outcome above any other post transfusion benefit.

In the 70s and early 80s, Charles Schiffer developed a program to stock-pile autologous frozen platelets for alloimmunized leukemia patients refractory to donor platelets [14-17]. From 1976–1981, over 150 patients received more than 700 frozen platelet transfusions [17]. The summation of 5 years of clinical data showed frozen platelets are safe and effective with approximately 50% post-transfusion recovery and reduced bleeding time compared to liquid-stored platelets in chemotherapy induced thrombocytopenia patients [17].

Simultaneously, Robert Valeri at the Naval Blood Research Laboratory (NBRL) continued work on cryopreservation of platelets optimizing the addition of 6% DMSO followed by  $-80^{\circ}$ C storage. Frozen platelets are then thawed and undergo a post-thaw wash to remove the DMSO [18,19]. Valeri found post-thaw platelets present with a partially activated phenotype in vitro [20-22]. Clinical studies revealed Valeri's 6% DMSO platelets were superior to traditional RT stored platelets at reducing blood loss in cardiopulmonary bypass surgery with no adverse thrombotic events [23]. Valeri's group continued to advance the cryopreservation technique by removing excess DMSO before freezing [24] . The 'no-wash' method decreased storage volume and streamlined post-thaw processing and is the foundation of most current CPP development work.

### **Current Key Manufacturing Points**

Decades of research have generated a stable and reproducible frozen platelet product. Currently, our program processes an apheresis platelet unit (APU) under 2 days post-collection with the Valeri no-wash method to manufacture CPP. Removal of most of the DMSO before  $-80^{\circ}$ C storage yields a final CPP volume that is 10-15% of the starting volume, i.e. a standard APU of ~275 mL produces approximately 25 mL of CPP with a platelet concentration of ~ $6.5 \times 10^{6}$  platelets/µL. Good manufacturing practice (cGMP) protocols consistent with blood banking practices are utilized. Labeling practice conforms to the International Society for Blood Transfusion (ISBT) standards in accordance with AABB (formerly American Association of Blood Banks) and the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) standards and permits unit tracking throughout the products' history. Products are stable when stored in a

mechanical freezer for 2 years. As long-term storage is a motive for CPP research and development, we have recently shown product stability can be extended from 2 to over 5 years at  $-80^{\circ}$ C (Supplementary Material 4).

#### Characterization, Safety, and Efficacy of CPP

Recovery of frozen/thawed CPP results in a loss of approximately 25% of the initial yield [24]. When compared to conventional RT liquid-stored platelets, CPP are characterized by acquisition of a spherical shape with decreased ability to swirl [25]. In general, CPP have an activated phenotype characterized by increased surface expression of P-selectin [26] and phosphatidylserine [27]. Two types of platelets are rapidly appreciated in CPP products [27] (Fig. 1). The primary group (75%) of CPP is comprised of platelets with activated morphology characterized by loss of discoid shape, increased pseudopodia (Fig. 1 arrows) and presence of centralized granules (Fig. 1 arrowheads). The other 25% consists of post-secretion platelets depleted of granules and lacking intracellular architecture (Fig. 1 asterisks) as well as loss of GPIb $\alpha$  expression. In addition, microscopic analyses of CPP identify large amounts of microparticles of varied size, different sedimentation rates and granule content [27,28] and hemostatic potential [29].

The aforementioned phenotype, along with the presence of microparticles, suggests that CPP activation state may result in pro-clotting effects (desired or undesired). In vitro functional tests have not been successfully linked to the clinical efficacy and/or safety of CPP. Aggregation response to agonists and adhesion of CPP to collagen are reduced [27,28,30], but fibrin polymerization by CPP/plasma seems to be conserved [30]. Time kinetics of thrombin generation demonstrates a larger thrombin peak height (TPH) with shortened reaction lag time for CPP compared to LP [31]. However, the endogenous thrombin potential of CPP is only slightly higher than LP [31], suggesting that while the preactivated state may result in rapid thrombin generation, the overall thrombin generation capacity of CPP is similar to LP. Thromboelastography (TEG) and rotational thromboelastometry (ROTEM) also indicate faster clot initiation for CPP than liquid-stored platelets [30] with a clot firmness half of that reached by LP [32].

In the last few years, there have been significant advances in our understanding of the safety and efficacy of CPP. Classical in vivo radionuclide-labeled platelet kinetic studies (a.k.a. recovery and survival) in healthy research subjects have demonstrated that the 24 hour-recovery of CPP is approximately 50% of LP with only mildly (~15%) decreased survival, suggesting again that at least two cohorts of platelets with different in vivo survival behavior are contained in CPP [27,33]. These results are also supported by data from autologous and allogeneic CPP infusions in patients in which there is an ~50% lower 1-hour platelet count increment compared to allogeneic LP [17,34].

Several non-controlled, observational studies of CPP in bleeding patients have been reported, but with limited ability to define outcome superiority or inferiority. As noted above, Schiffer and his group began transfusing CPP into highly alloimmunized thrombocytopenic patients after chemotherapy with encouraging results [17]. One of the largest of these studies to date was reported by the Dutch Army in support of North Atlantic Treaty Organization troops [35]. The Dutch Army's experience in Afghanistan from 2006 to 2010, with over 1100 CPP products transfused, indicates that the use of frozen components is not only safe, but also may result in better survival in combat casualties [35]. In this study the effect of the introduction of a massive transfusion protocol which incorporated frozen red cells, plasma and platelets in combination with liquid red blood cells was evaluated for frozen products compared to retrospective patient data. In the group of patients who required massive transfusion, there was statistically significant improvement in survival (56% vs 86% after introduction of the protocol). Additionally, for patients not requiring massive transfusion an

#### K. Kelly, J.A. Cancelas, Z.M. Szczepiorkowski et al.

#### Transfusion Medicine Reviews xxx (xxxx) xxx



000220FR

2 microns

Fig. 1. Transmission electron microscopy of CPP Showing 2 Types of Platelets Post-Thaw. Transmission electron micrograph at 7000× of CPP. Platelets with pseudopodia (arrows) and centralized granules (arrowheads) comprise most cells. A second type of platelet is found lacking intracellular architecture (asterisks) in CPP post-thaw.

improvement was also noted (87.3% vs 96.1%) but this did not reach statistical significance.

Some controlled studies for safety and/or efficacy have also been reported, although with limited power and numbers. A careful safety study was performed in bleeding (WHO grades II-IV), thrombocytopenic, hematology/oncology patients. In this multicenter, dose-escalation study, 28 patients were randomized to receive up to 3 units of CPP. There were no serious adverse events reported, but unfortunately this trial was not designed to compare efficacy [33]. Valeri's group [36] showed that autologous CPP were functionally competent when transfused into healthy subjects given aspirin and reduced their bleeding time prolonged by the aspirin intake. Bohonek and colleagues [37], in an unblinded randomized clinical trial, found that CPP products were safe when administered to polytraumatized and massively bleeding patients. Lower platelet counts were observed in CPP recipients (median: 41.5x10<sup>9</sup>/L) compared to those receiving LP (median: 97.0x10<sup>9</sup>/L) when hemostatic control was attained with no difference in any of the clinical or laboratory outcomes. The underpowered nature of this trial did not reach relevant conclusions on efficacy. The Cryopreserved vs Liquid Platelet (CLIP)-I trial, a double-blind multicenter feasibility and safety clinical trial in 121 patients undergoing cardiac surgery found no significant difference in blood loss (medians of 715 mL in CCP recipients vs 805 mL in LP recipients, at 24 hours, with a 90 mL difference

- 95% confidence interval, -343.8 to 163.8 mL, P = .41), or red cell usage (3 units in the CPP group vs 4 units in the LP group, difference 1 unit -95% confidence interval: -3.1-1.1 units; P = .23) and no serious adverse events associated with the infusion of up to 3 units of CPP [38]. Unfortunately, this latter study was underpowered and the CPP group received a larger amount of fresh-frozen plasma (FFP) than the control group, not allowing to draw a conclusion regarding the efficacy of CPP VS LP.

The only study that has demonstrated superiority of CPP in a prospective, randomized phase II clinical trial was reported by Khuri and colleagues in 1999. They observed that cardiopulmonary bypass surgery patients treated with CPP received significantly fewer platelet units, had significantly lower median postoperative blood loss and were transfused with fewer total blood components, without serious adverse events [23]; but no significant differences in intraoperative blood loss. Blood loss after heparin reversal with protamine was lower in patients transfused with CPP than in patients transfused with LP (median of 1721 mL vs 2298 mL respectively; P = .007). Analysis of blood loss after exclusion from the LP group of patients who had the longest duration of cardiopulmonary bypass surgery remained significantly higher in the patients receiving the LP transfusions (median 2329 mL vs 1830 mL in the patients receiving CPP, P = .0089). However, several caveats in the experimental design of this trial mostly related with the

#### K. Kelly, J.A. Cancelas, Z.M. Szczepiorkowski et al.

methodology used to calculate blood loss hamper a correct interpretation of the results. Ongoing efforts are currently being supported by the United States Department of Defense (DoD), the Australian Government and other Governments of NATO countries [39] to demonstrate superiority in efficacy studies designed in trauma or cardiac surgery patients.

#### Key Developments and Evidence Necessary for Future Success

#### Pathogen Reduction

Blood products such as CPP are expected to reside in strategic inventory stocks for several years. The emergence of new or modified pathogens during that period could cast doubt on inventory safety if targeted screening tests were not in place during stock preparation. In the face of a new pathogen, the effectiveness of pathogen reduction (PR) methods could be rapidly verified without retesting inventory, and thus acquit the stock of associated transfusion transmitted disease risk. In addition, PR treatment would be expected to further reduce the remote chance of septic transfusion reactions associated with transfusion transmitted bacteria.

There are currently three PR methods developed for treatment of platelets: INTERCEPT (Amotosalen, UV-B; Cerus Corporation; Concord, CA, USA), Mirasol (Riboflavin/UV-A, UV-B; TerumoBCT, Lakewood, CO, USA) and the THERAFLEX UV-Platelets system (UV-C, MacoPharma, Tourcoing, France). The concept of cryopreservation of PR-treated platelets has been highlighted in two review articles [40,41], yet has only been evaluated at a cursory, in vitro feasibility level for two of the three currently-available PR technologies. Meinke et al. [42] examined PR-CPP prepared from pooled buffy coat derived platelet concentrates treated with the amotosalen/UVA system prior to cryopreservation. The cryopreservation process was in 5% DMSO but in a unique configuration of a low freezing volume. Post-thaw products were resuspended in fresh plasma prior to testing. The PR-CPP appeared to be more susceptible to freeze/thaw damage than the untreated CPP especially evident in observations of platelet ultrastructure by transmission electron microscopy. In vitro hemostatic function was maintained compared to CPP for clot formation in the ROTEM. Six et al. [43] also evaluated amotosalen/UVA photochemical treatment and cryopreservation in 6% DMSO in a small in vitro feasibility study. They observed PR-CPP had reduced response to TRAP6 yet an increased TPH compared to CPP controls. The authors felt these changes were small and may not have practical effects on the overall function of PR-CPP. Johnson's team in Australia examined the UVC PR method effect on CPP [44]. Pooled buffy coat derived platelets in additive solution (PAS) were cryopreserved with 5-6% DMSO and resuspended in plasma following thawing. They observed a tendency for the PR-CPP to be more susceptible to freeze/thaw damage and activation which was exacerbated during a post-thaw storage period of 24 hours.

A major gap in the development and effective long-term deployment of CPP is the evaluation of the effect of PR platelets cryopreserved in DMSO. Additional preclinical work is indicated for evaluation of all PR methods on all methods and iterations of CPP preparation. In vitro data may be adequate bridging studies for comparison to untreated CPP, however in vivo kinetic studies of circulating recovery and survival, as well as efficacy studies in bleeding patients may be indicated.

#### Closed Manufacturing and Processing Systems

Manufacturing and prepare-for-transfusion methods that have been reported have not maintained a closed system through all manufacturing and post-thaw processing. Closed systems eliminate the risk of extraneous bacterial contamination of blood products during handling and manipulations, thus reducing the overall risk of septic transfusion reactions. The original manufacturing process developed by Valeri and employed by others employed DMSO preparations in glass vials [27]. This necessitated open operations only properly performed in an ISO Class 5 environment following applicable regulations for filling of pharmaceutical products [45]. Such methods are burdensome and expensive. Recently, 27% DMSO in sterile-dockable, DMSO-compatible bag systems have been introduced permitting closed system preparation of CPP; thus, permitting manufacturing in a standard blood bank laboratory without extra environmental controls. Preparation for transfusion of CPP post-thaw has necessitated use of open systems for addition of resuspension solutions such as PAS, saline or plasma, requiring transfusion of the product within 4 to 6 hours. This could result in product loss if the clinical logistics do not permit immediate product transfusion. Development of closed systems for post-thaw handling would increase the shelf life of the prepared CPP up to several days and facilitate use in a variety of clinical settings.

#### **CPP** Potency

Biological products are required to have adequate potency to effect a given result when administered to a patient, i.e., therapeutic effect. Potency tests may be in vitro and/or in vivo tests specifically designed for a product [46,47]. The potency for cellular blood components has classically been determined by volume and cell content (eg, hemoglobin or platelet concentration) to result in a targeted clinical result following administration of a standardized dose (eg, increase in patient Hb of 1 g/ dL or platelet concentration by 80 000 platelets/µL) [48], whereas other biologics have activity or potency specified in units of activity per volume or mass. The FDA has directed CPP developers to select and develop a potency test that is specific to CPP. In the setting of active bleeding, it is believed that support of thrombin generation in the patient may be the primary mode of action of CPP. Therefore, in consultation with FDA, we selected an in vitro thrombin generation assay (TGA) to develop and apply for characterization and description of the specific activity of CPP as the potency test. The test and approach that follows has been shown to distinguish between types of products (APU vs CPP) as well as between individual unit preparations of these products. The applicability and interpretation of this in vitro potency assay remains to be shown as predictive of therapeutic effect when CPP is administered to patients.

The Calibrated Automated Thrombogram (CAT; Thrombinoscope BV, Maastricht, Netherlands) uses fluorescence to measure thrombin generation over time as the substrate ZGGR-aminomethylcoumarin (AMC) is cleaved by thrombin; thereby, releasing the AMC chromophore. The CAT assay employs a thrombin calibrator, a modified non-clot forming thrombin (alpha2-macroglobulin-thrombin) that produces thrombinlike activity that is used to correct for inner filter effect, quenching variation among individual plasmas, and substrate depletion. Using this platform, the potency assay for CPP has been defined with Octaplas (Octapharma USA Inc, Hoboken, NJ) as the suspending media to avoid variation in reaction inhibitors present in FFP, tissue factor (TF) concentration of 1.0pM, and 3 targeted platelet concentrations in the reaction well of 10, 20, and  $44 \times 10^3$  plt/µL within the log-linear response range of the assay (Supplementary Material 1 and 2). To facilitate generalization and accuracy of reporting, the CAT internal calibrator reagent has been calibrated against the WHO international thrombin standard (Supplementary Material 3). Outcome parameters of TPH and endogenous thrombin potential (ETP) are converted from nM and nM\*min to IU/L and IU/L\*min, respectively. TPH corrected to IU-thrombin/L has been selected as the primary outcome. An internal Potency Standard (PS) is prepared from a pool of CPP prior to freezing then frozen as 1 mL aliquots at ≤-65°C. PS aliquots are thawed and resuspended in a manner to replicate full CPP unit methods. One dilution series of PS is assayed in each TGA plate along with test products. The Potency outcome parameter is determined from the TPH at the midpoint (approximately  $20 \times 10^3$  plt/µL) divided by the platelet concentration in the test well to give IU-thrombin/million platelets.

K. Kelly, J.A. Cancelas, Z.M. Szczepiorkowski et al.



**Fig. 2.** Dose Response of Potency Assay for CPP. TPH corrected to WHO-IU has a log-linear platelet-dose response from 7–50  $\times$  10<sup>3</sup> platelets/µL with R<sup>2</sup> = 0.96 for platelet concentrations <50  $\times$  10<sup>3</sup> platelets/µL.

The validation approach for the CAT is taken from the ICH Harmonized Tripartite Guideline, Validation of Analytical Procedures: Test and Methodology Q2(R1) [49]. The TGA outcome is proportional to the concentration of CPP and APU, and linearity (log-linear) response ranges are 7-96  $\times$  10<sup>3</sup> plt/µL for APU and 7-44  $\times$  10<sup>3</sup> plt/µL for CPP (Fig. 2). The assay is precise within the log-linear response range for CPP (CV <9%); however, less so for APU with a CV of 24.2%. Thrombin generation is inhibited in a dose dependent manner by blocking phosphatidylserine with lactadherin, thus demonstrating the specificity of the TGA response to thrombin [50].

Potency results of 4 CPP cohorts with average storage times at  $\leq -65^{\circ}$  C from 270 days (9 months) to 1971 days (5.4 years) compared to 5-day plasma stored APU are shown in Table 1 (Supplementary Material 4 for additional in vitro characteristic of 4 and 5 year stored CPP). CPP potency reported as in vitro thrombin generation potential is 6.7 times greater than APU. How this potency parameter translates to clinical therapeutic effect remains to be shown in future clinical trials.

#### **Applications of CPP**

#### Supply Shortages

Availability of fresh platelet concentrates, both apheresis and whole blood derived, are affected by a short shelf life, relatively high outdate rates (above 10% for 5-day platelets though less than 5% for 7-day platelets) and frequent shortages. Product shortages are managed on the level of the transfusion service where shortages promote decreasing the transfusable dose and delaying or denying prophylactic transfusions. Shortages of platelet concentrates create an ethical dilemma for transfusion medicine specialists. CPP is a potential solution to this problem. Applications of CPP (Fig. 3) include a ready inventory of ABO typed, low isoagglutinin titer CPP units (with or without PR) that can be stored and prepared in a similar fashion to FFP or cryoprecipitate which have been handled by transfusion services for decades. CPP can be easily Transfusion Medicine Reviews xxx (xxxx) xxx

used during shortages and provide for significantly better support for bleeding patients. An important change in the current transfusion practice would refer to triggers for transfusion. CPP will be best suited for bleeding patients while fresh units could be retained for prophylactic transfusions in the outpatient setting.

#### Response to Mass Casualty Events

As the timing of a mass casualty event is unpredictable and injuries may vary greatly between victims, the blood demand can vary greatly. A review of recent (1980-2020) mass casualty events with the use of more than 50 RBCs per event underscores a complex relationship between the size of the event and the actual blood use [51]. The review highlights increased utilization of plasma such that the observed ratio of plasma/RBC/platelets was six, four and one-half units per admission. This new observation also underscores increased demand for plasma and platelets. The author of this review noted that in some recent mass shootings up to 42 units of platelets were used, significantly more than available in inventory at many trauma centers. CPP would be an ideal on shelf component and its long shelf life and timely availability could help in management of victims.

A small study illustrates the feasibility of using CPP instead of fresh apheresis product. In this study patients who suffered from trauma or massive bleeding received either CPP (25 patients) or APU (21 patients) [37]. The clinical outcomes in both groups were comparable though, expectedly, the platelet count post-transfusion was higher in the group receiving APU. These observed results require additional larger, well designed, randomized controlled trials in this patient population.

#### Platelet Support in Remote Locations (Rural Civilian, Remote Military)

Frozen blood components can be particularly useful in situations where blood support is required far away from the hospital, such as military operations and rural/remote locations. There is growing evidence that the availability of blood components close to the location of injury improves overall survival. As noted for the Netherlands Armed Forces, deployment of frozen components, including platelets, has clearly demonstrated the practicality and effectiveness of CPP in remote locations [35,52].

#### Bleeding Patients (Surgical, ED, GI, Other Medical)

As noted above, shortages of platelets may impede our ability to resuscitate actively bleeding patients. In such patient populations a product which has a better hemostatic characteristic would be desirable. CPP does provide additional prothrombotic activity such that patients suffering from massive hemorrhage due to surgical or gastrointestinal bleeding may achieve hemostasis faster than patients receiving fresh liquidstored platelets. The results of a well-designed dose escalation study reported by Slichter support this hypothesis [33]. Though not designed to compare efficacy, 58% of patients who received CPP had improved

#### Table 1

In vitro potency for CPP. The thrombin generation assay is used to define CPP potency with tissue factor (TF) concentration of 1.0pM in Octaplas. Calculated potency values for a platelet concentration of 20 × 10<sup>3</sup> plt/µL are shown for CPP stored up to 5 years and fresh apheresis platelet controls. [ $\overline{x} \pm SD$  (minimum – maximum)]

Study cohort	Ν	CPP time in freezer (days)	TGA potency at 20 k (IU/10 <sup>6</sup> plt)	Platelet conc. (×1000/µL)	Volume (mL)	Total platelets $(\times 10^{11})$
CPP 18-7-A	30	$1971 \pm 78$	$1.72\pm0.17$	$5145\pm 645$	$53.9 \pm 1.7$	$2.8\pm0.3$
5 y		(1825-2057)	(1.30-2.00)	(3638-6730)	(51.1-57.7)	(2.1-3.6)
CPP 18-7-A	29	$1639 \pm 75$	$1.65 \pm 0.13$	$5429 \pm 671$	$53.4 \pm 1.9$	$2.9\pm0.4$
4 y		(1552-1757)	(1.41-1.92)	(4437-7088)	(50.2-58.5)	(2.3-4.1)
CPP 18-3-A	24	$270 \pm 232$	$1.53 \pm 0.13$	$4139 \pm 518$	$54.5\pm3.4$	$2.2\pm0.2$
<2 y		(13-727)	(1.29-1.85)	(2893-5354)	(48.9-60.0)	(1.7-2.7)
CPP 17-12-D	63	$422 \pm 3.5$	$1.58 \pm 0.17$	$4433 \pm 396$	$55.2 \pm 2.1$	$2.4\pm0.2$
<2 y		(413-430)	(1.22-2.14)	(3728-5320)	(50.7-59.9)	(1.9-2.9)
Apheresis Platelet	24	na	$0.24 \pm 0.06$	$1192 \pm 151$	$289.5 \pm 32.7$	$3.4\pm0.3$
18-3-A			(0.15-0.37)	(938-1645)	(223.0-348.4)	(2.8-4.0)

Transfusion Medicine Reviews xxx (xxxx) xxx



Fig. 3. Clinical applications of cryopreserved platelets.

bleeding scores, including 43% of patients with intracranial bleeding. The CPP was well tolerated and no serious adverse events were observed. This study paves the way for future studies looking into utilization of CPP in routine care of bleeding patients, including bleeding patients with hypoproliferative thrombocytopenia [53,54].

## Support for Alloimmunized Patients (HLA Bank/Alloimmunization and Platelet Refractoriness)

Platelets carry on their surface class I HLA molecules which can be a target in alloimmunized patients often resulting in platelet refractoriness. Identification of HLA compatible units for alloimmunized patients is predicated on patient and donor HLA typing and availability of donors (or collected units) at the time of needed transfusion. Since HLA proteins are stable post-thaw on DMSO cryopreserved platelets [55], it would be beneficial to establish banks of HLA typed CPP units. Such banks will be able to distribute platelets to alloimmunized patients faster than the current process. Furthermore, a complete inventory profile is likely not to be necessary. It could be sufficient to have an inventory of homozygous HLA platelets (eg, A2, B7; A1, B44 etc.). This approach would minimize the number of needed donors to establish an inventory covering a significant HLA diversity among patients. The cost–benefit trade-off of such an available inventory for rapid platelet support to bleeding alloimmunized patients will need to be considered.

#### Drug Delivery Using Platelets

The first use of medication loaded platelets was described in 1978 as a treatment option for refractory chronic idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura (ITP) [56]. In this study, normal platelets were incubated with vinca alkaloids and reinfused, without a significant washing step, to the patients. The results were encouraging as 6 of 11 patients had a complete remission. Similarly positive results were noted in several case reports [57]. However, when larger studies were performed the efficacy of this approach seemed to be equivalent to vinca infusion alone and within 5 years this therapeutic approach had been questioned [58]. The same approach was also used in 4 patients with autoimmune hemolytic anemia (AIHA) where 3 of them showed promising clinical responses [59]. More recently, improvements have been made in the manufacturing process with high response rates reported in patients with ITP, AIHA and Evans syndrome [60]. Preclinical studies have been reported for platelets loaded with such proteins as ADAMTS-13 and thrombin which cannot be directly infused due to their immediate effect on a patient's coagulation system [61,62]. While platelet delivery techniques are only beginning to be developed, these initial approaches could be further extended to CPP. Here platelets could be loaded with a drug thereby providing a stable product with extended shelf-life. Additional manipulations of such platelets prior to cryopreservation may further increase specificity of their delivery. Recently, there has been interest in using platelets as a vehicle to transport compounds across the blood–brain barrier, significantly changing our ability to deliver drugs to the central nervous system [63].

### Conclusion

The need for alternatives to RT stored liquid platelets has been a rich area of research for over half a century. While in the clinical setting transfusion of frozen platelets has been safe, studies with frozen platelets currently comprise a small number of study subjects. To achieve these goals, CPP manufacturing has been optimized 1) to include closed-system processing to reduce contamination risk, 2) with establishment of a potency standard that allows for increased treatment control and 3) with continued research in PR technology for platelets prior to freezing to enhance the shelf life. Unfortunately, our progress in understanding the efficacy of frozen platelets in bleeding therapy has been slowed down by lack of corporate investment. Frozen platelets remain a promising approach for the development of life-saving alternatives as well the ability to stockpile products in underserved regions and for alloimmunized patients.

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.tmrv.2020.09.008.

#### **Declaration of Competing Interest**

Authors declare no conflicts of interest.

#### Funding

Funding for some research studies reported here was from the US Army Medical Research and Material Command. The views, opinions and/or findings contained in this report are those of the author(s) and

#### K. Kelly, J.A. Cancelas, Z.M. Szczepiorkowski et al.

should not be construed as an official Department of Defense position, policy, or decision unless so designated by other documentation.

#### References

- Klein E, Toch R, Farber S, Freeman G, Fiorentino R. Hemostasis in thrombocytopenic bleeding following infusion of stored, frozen platelets. Blood. 1956;11:693–9.
- [2] Stefanini M, Kistner SA. Platelets, platelet factors and platelet substitutes in the management of thrombocytopenic states. Bibl Haematol. 1958;7:378–81. https://doi.org/ 10.1159/000427145.
- [3] Murphy S, Gardner FH. Effect of storage temperature on maintenance of platelet viability-deleterious effect of refrigerated storage. N Engl J Med. 1969;280:1094–8. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM196905152802004.
- [4] Murphy S, Gardner FH. The effect of temperature on platelet viability. Vox Sang. 1969;17:22.
- [5] Murphy S, Gardner FH. Platelet storage at 22 degrees C; metabolic, morphologic, and functional studies. J Clin Invest. 1971;50:370–7. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI106504.
- [6] Djerassi I, Roy A. A method for preservation of viable platelets: combined effects of sugars and dimethylsulfoxide. Blood. 1963;22:703–17.
- [7] Pfisterer H, Weber F, Michlmayr G. In vivo survival of platelet concentrates following rapid freezing and thawing. Cryobiology. 1969;5:379–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0011-2240(69)80101-x.
- [8] Djerassi I, Roy A, Kim J, Cavins J. Dimethylacetamide, a new cryoprotective agent for platelets. Transfusion (Paris). 1971;11:72–6. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1537-2995. 1971.tb04379.x.
- [9] Djerassi I, Farber S, Roy A, Cavins J. Preparation and in vivo circulation of human platelets preserved with combined dimethylsulfoxide and dextrose. Transfusion (Paris). 1966;6:572–6. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1537-2995.1966.tb04780.x.
- [10] Cohen P, Gardner FH. Platelet preservation. IV. Preservation of human platelet concentrates by controlled slow freezing in a glycerol medium. N Engl J Med. 1966; 274:1400-7. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM196606232742502.
- [11] Iossifides I, Geisler P, Eichman MF, Tocantins LM. Preservation of the clot-retracting activity of platelets by freezing in dimethylsulfoxide and plasma. Transfusion (Paris). 1963;3:167–72. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1537-2995.1963.tb04614.x.
- [12] Cohen P, Gardner FH. Platelet preservation. II. Preservation of canine platelet concentrates by freezing in solutions of glycerol plasma. J Clin Invest. 1962;41:10–9. https:// doi.org/10.1172/JCI104450.
- [13] Pfisterer H, Michimayr G, Weber F. In vivo survival of rabbit platelets by rapid freezing and thawing. Blut. 1969;19:347–50. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01632893.
- [14] Schiffer CA, Buchholz DH, Aisner J, Wolff JH, Wiernik PH. Frozen autologous platelets in the supportive care of patients with leukemia. Transfusion (Paris). 1976;16: 321–9. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1537-2995.1976.16476247052.x.
- [15] Schiffer CA, Aisner J, Wiernik PH. Clinical experience with transfusion of cryopreserved platelets. Br J Haematol. 1976;34:377–85. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.1976.tb03584.x.
- [16] Schiffer CA, Aisner J, Wiernik PH. Frozen autologous platelet transfusion for patients with leukemia. N Engl J Med. 1978;299:7–12. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJM197807062990102.
- [17] Schiffer CA, Aisner J, Dutcher JP. Platelet cryopreservation using dimethyl sulfoxide. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1983;411:161–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1983. tb47298.x.
- [18] Valeri CR. Hemostatic effectiveness of liquid-preserved and previously frozen human platelets. N Engl J Med. 1974;290:353–8. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJM197402142900702.
- [19] Valeri CR, Feingold H, Marchionni LD. A simple method for freezing human platelets using 6 per cent dimethylsulfoxide and storage at -80 degrees C. Blood. 1974;43: 131-6.
- [20] Valeri CR, Feingold H, Melaragno AJ, Vecchione JJ. Cryopreservation of dog platelets with dimethyl sulfoxide: therapeutic effectiveness of cryopreserved platelets in the treatment of thrombocytopenic dogs, and the effect of platelet storage at -80 degrees C. Cryobiology. 1986;23:387-94. https://doi.org/10.1016/0011-2240(86) 90023-4.
- [21] Spector JI, Flor WJ, Valeri CR. Ultrastructural alterations and phagocytic function of cryopreserved platelets. Transfusion (Paris). 1979;19:307–12. https://doi.org/10. 1046/j.1537-2995.1979.19379204212.x.
- [22] Spector JI, Skrabut EM, Valeri CR. Oxygen consumption, platelet aggregation and release reactions in platelets freeze-preserved with dimethylsulfoxide. Transfusion (Paris). 1977;17:99–109. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1537-2995.1977.17277151929.x.
- [23] Khuri SF, Healey N, MacGregor H, Barnard MR, Szymanski IO, Birjiniuk V, et al. Comparison of the effects of transfusions of cryopreserved and liquid-preserved platelets on hemostasis and blood loss after cardiopulmonary bypass. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1999;117:172–83 discussion 183-184 https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-5223 (99)70483-6.
- [24] Valeri CR, Ragno G, Houten PV, Rose L, Rose M, Egozy Y, et al. Automation of the glycerolization of red blood cells with the high-separation bowl in the Haemonetics ACP 215 instrument. Transfusion (Paris). 2005;45:1621–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/j. 1537-2995.2005.00588.x.
- [25] Crowley JP, Rene A, Valeri CR. Changes in platelet shape and structure after freeze preservation. Blood. 1974;44:599–603.
- [26] Barnard MR, MacGregor H, Ragno G, Pivacek LE, Khuri SF, Michelson AD, et al. Fresh, liquid-preserved, and cryopreserved platelets: adhesive surface receptors and membrane procoagulant activity. Transfusion (Paris). 1999;39:880–8. https://doi.org/10. 1046/j.1537-2995.1999.39080880.x.

- [27] Dumont LJ, Cancelas JA, Dumont DF, Siegel AH, Szczepiorkowski ZM, Rugg N, et al. A randomized controlled trial evaluating recovery and survival of 6% dimethyl sulfoxide-frozen autologous platelets in healthy volunteers. Transfusion (Paris). 2013;53: 128–37. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1537-2995.2012.03735.x.
- [28] Kelly K, Dumont LJ. Frozen platelets. Transfus Apher Sci. 2019;58:23–9. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.transci.2018.12.013.
- [29] Raynel S, Padula MP, Marks DC, Johnson L. Cryopreservation alters the membrane and cytoskeletal protein profile of platelet microparticles. Transfusion (Paris). 2015;55:2422–32. https://doi.org/10.1111/trf.13165.
- [30] Cid J, Escolar G, Galan A, López-Vilchez I, Molina P, Díaz-Ricart M, et al. In vitro evaluation of the hemostatic effectiveness of cryopreserved platelets. Transfusion (Paris). 2016;56:580–6. https://doi.org/10.1111/trf.13371.
- [31] Johnson L, Coorey CP, Marks DC. The hemostatic activity of cryopreserved platelets is mediated by phosphatidylserine-expressing platelets and platelet microparticles. Transfusion (Paris). 2014;54:1917–26. https://doi.org/10.1111/trf.12578.
- [32] Six KR, Delabie W, Devreese KMJ, Johnson L, Marks DC, Dumont LJ, et al. Comparison between manufacturing sites shows differential adhesion, activation, and GPlbα expression of cryopreserved platelets. Transfusion (Paris). 2018;58:2645–56. https:// doi.org/10.1111/trf.14828.
- [33] Slichter SJ, Dumont LJ, Cancelas JA, Jones M, Gernsheimer TB, Szczepiorkowski ZM, et al. Safety and efficacy of cryopreserved platelets in bleeding patients with thrombocytopenia. Transfusion (Paris). 2018;58:2129–38. https://doi.org/10.1111/trf.14780.
- [34] Gerber B, Alberio L, Rochat S, Stenner F, Manz MG, Buser A, et al. Safety and efficacy of cryopreserved autologous platelet concentrates in HLA-alloimmunized patients with hematologic malignancies. Transfusion (Paris). 2016;56:2426–37. https://doi. org/10.1111/trf.13690.
- [35] Noorman F, van Dongen TTCF, Plat M-CJ, Badloe JF, Hess JR, Hoencamp R. Transfusion: -80°C frozen blood products are safe and effective in military casualty care. PloS One. 2016;11:e0168401. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0168401.
- [36] Vecchione JJ, Melaragno AJ, Hollander A, Defina S, Emerson CP, Valeri CR. Circulation and function of human platelets isolated from units of CPDA-1, CPDA-2, and CPDA-3 anticoagulated blood and frozen with DMSO. Transfusion (Paris). 1982;22:206–9. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1537-2995.1982.22382224942.x.
- [37] Bohonek M, Kutac D, Landova L, Koranova M, Sladkova E, Staskova E, et al. The use of cryopreserved platelets in the treatment of polytraumatic patients and patients with massive bleeding. Transfusion (Paris). 2019;59:1474–8. https://doi.org/10.1111/trf. 15177.
- [38] Reade MC, Marks DC, Bellomo R, Deans R, Faulke DJ, Fraser JF, et al. A randomized, controlled pilot clinical trial of cryopreserved platelets for perioperative surgical bleeding: the CLIP-I trial (Editorial, p. 2759). Transfusion (Paris). 2019;59: 2794–804. https://doi.org/10.1111/trf.15423.
- [39] Cohn CS, Dumont LJ, Lozano M, Marks DC, Johnson L, Ismay S, et al. Vox Sanguinis international forum on platelet cryopreservation: summary. Vox Sang. 2017;112: 684–8. https://doi.org/10.1111/vox.12533.
- [40] Bohonek M, Kutac D, Acker JP, Seghatchian J. Optimizing the supply of whole bloodderived bioproducts through the combined implementation of cryopreservation and pathogen reduction technologies and practices: an overview. Transfus Apher Sci Off J World Apher Assoc Off J Eur Soc Haemapheresis. 2020;59:102754. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.transci.2020.102754.
- [41] Waters L, Cameron M, Padula MP, Marks DC, Johnson L. Refrigeration, cryopreservation and pathogen inactivation: an updated perspective on platelet storage conditions. Vox Sang. 2018;113:317–28. https://doi.org/10.1111/vox.12640.
- [42] Meinke S, Wikman A, Gryfelt G, Hultenby K, Uhlin M, Höglund P, et al. Cryopreservation of buffy coat-derived platelet concentrates photochemically treated with amotosalen and UVA light. Transfusion (Paris). 2018;58:2657–68. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/trf.14905.
- [43] Six KR, Devloo R, Compernolle V, Feys HB. Impact of cold storage on platelets treated with intercept pathogen inactivation. Transfusion (Paris). 2019;59:2662–71. https:// doi.org/10.1111/trf.15398.
- [44] Waters L, Padula MP, Marks DC, Johnson L. Cryopreservation of UVC pathogeninactivated platelets. Transfusion. 2019;59:2093–102. https://doi.org/10.1111/trf.15204.
- [45] Sterile Drug Products Produced by Aseptic Processing, Current Good Manufacturing Practice U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Food and Drug Administration Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER) Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research (CBER) Office of Regulatory Affairs (ORA) September 2004 - Google Search. https://www.google.com/search?q=Sterile+Drug+Products+Produced+by+ Aseptic+Processing+%E2%80%94+Current+Good+Manufacturing+Practice+U.S.+ Department+of+Health+and+Human+Services+Food+and+Drug+ Administration+Center+for+Drug+Evaluation+and+Research+(CDER)+ Center+for+Biologics+Evaluation+and+Research+(CBER)+Office+of+ Regulatory+Affairs+(ORA)+September+2004&rlz=1C1GCEU\_enUS894US895 & oq = Sterile + Drug + Products + Produced + by + Aseptic + Processing + % E2% 80% 94+Current+Good+Manufacturing+Practice+U.S.+Department+of+Health+ and+Human+Services+Food+and+Drug+Administration+Center+for+Drug+ Evaluation+and+Research+(CDER)+Center+for+Biologics+Evaluation+ and+Research+(CBER)+Office+of+Regulatory+Affairs+(ORA)+September+2004 &aqs=chrome..69i57.1318j0j7&sourceid=chrome&ie=UTF-8. [Accessed 5 July 2020].
- [46] CFR. Code of Federal Regulations Title 21. https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/ cdrh/cfdocs/cfCFR/CFRSearch.cfm?CFRPart=600&showFR=1. [Accessed 5 July 2020].
- [47] CFR. Code of Federal Regulations Title 21. https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/ cdrh/cfdocs/cfcfr/CFRSearch.cfm?CFRPart=610. [Accessed 5 July 2020].
- [48] Circular of Information for the Use of Human Blood and Blood Components. http:// www.aabb.org/tm/coi/Pages/default.aspx. [Accessed 5 July 2020].
- [49] ICH Harmonised Tripartite Guideline. Validation of analytical procedures: Test and methodology Q2(R1); 2005.

#### Transfusion Medicine Reviews xxx (xxxx) xxx

#### K. Kelly, J.A. Cancelas, Z.M. Szczepiorkowski et al.

#### Transfusion Medicine Reviews xxx (xxxx) xxx

- [50] Kelly K, Liss N, Strong M, Dumont LJ. GP1b characterization of storage temperature effects on cryopreserved platelets. Transfusion (Paris). 2019;59:86A-7A.
- [51] Ramsey G. Blood transfusions in mass casualty events: recent trends. Vox Sang. 2020. https://doi.org/10.1111/vox.12916.
- [52] Dumont LJ, Slichter SJ, Reade MC. Cryopreserved platelets: frozen in a logjam? Transfusion (Paris). 2014;54:1907–10. https://doi.org/10.1111/trf.12758. Marks DC. Cryopreserved platelets: are we there yet? Transfusion (Paris). 2018;58:
- [53] 2092-4. https://doi.org/10.1111/trf.14887
- [54] Napolitano M, Mancuso S, Raso S, LoCoco L, Arfò PS, De Francisci G, et al. Buffy coatderived platelets cryopreserved using a new method: results from a pivotal clinical trial on thrombocytopenic patients with acute leukaemia. Transfus Apher Sci Off J World Apher Assoc Off J Eur Soc Haemapheresis. 2019;58:102666. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.transci.2019.10.008.
- [55] Porretti L, Marangoni F, Rebulla P, Sirchia G. Frozen platelet plates for platelet antibody detection and cross-match. Vox Sang. 1994;67:52-7. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1423-0410.1994.tb05038.x.
- [56] Ahn YS, Byrnes JJ, Harrington WJ, Cayer ML, Smith DS, Brunskill DE, et al. The treatment of idiopathic thrombocytopenia with vinblastine-loaded platelets. N Engl J Med. 1978;298:1101-7. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM197805182982001.
- [57] Wautier JL, Boizard B, Caen JP. Transfusion of platelets loaded with periwinkle alkaloids as a treatment for chronic idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura (author's transl). Nouv Presse Med. 1979;8:185-8.

- [58] Rosse WF. Whatever happened to vinca-loaded platelets? N Engl J Med. 1984;310: 1051-2. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM198404193101611.
- [59] Ahn YS, Harrington WJ, Byrnes JJ, Pall L, McCrainie J. Treatment of autoimmune hemolytic anemia with Vinca-loaded platelets. JAMA. 1983;249:2189–94.
- [60] Shvidel L, Sigler E, Shtalrid M, Berrebi A. Vincristine-loaded platelet infusion for treatment of refractory autoimmune hemolytic anemia and chronic immune thrombocytopenia: rethinking old cures. Am J Hematol. 2006;81:423-5. https://doi.org/10. 1002/ajh.20632
- [61] Abdelgawwad MS, Cao W, Zheng L, Kocher NK, Williams LA, Zheng XL. Transfusion of platelets loaded with recombinant ADAMTS13 (a Disintegrin and Metalloprotease with Thrombospondin type 1 Repeats-13) is efficacious for inhibiting arterial thrombosis associated with thrombotic thrombocytopenic Purpura. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2018;38:2731-43. https://doi.org/10. 1161/ATVBAHA.118.311407.
- [62] Chan V, Sarkari M, Sunderland R, St John AE, White NJ, Kastrup CJ. Platelets loaded with liposome-encapsulated thrombin have increased coagulability. J Thromb Haemost JTH. 2018;16:1226-35. https://doi.org/10.1111/jth.14006.
- [63] Kola SM, Kumar P, Choonara YE, du Toit LC, Pillay V. Hypothesis: can drug-loaded platelets be used as delivery vehicles for blood-brain barrier penetration? Med Hypotheses. 2019;125:75-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2019.02.037.